
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

KEITH AMEYAW     : 

208 Dingo Rd. Apt G   

Spring Lake, NC 28390    :  Case No.: 

         

 Plaintiff,      : JUDGE  

          

-v-       : MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

        

COUNTY OF DELAWARE    : COMPLAINT 

101 N. Sandusky Street       

Delaware, Ohio 43015    : JURY DEMAND ENDORSED 

        HEREON 

and       : 

 

DELAWARE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS :     

Jeff Benton, Barb Lewis and Gary Merrell in their  

Official Capacity     : 

101 N. Sandusky Street       

Delaware, Ohio 43015    :  

        

and       : 

        

DEPUTY JESSE RODRIGUEZ LIPPS   :   

Individually 

149 N. Sandusky Street    : 

Delaware, Ohio 43015         

       : 

and        

: 

RUSSELL MARTIN      

in his Official Capacity as Delaware County  Sheriff :   

149 N. Sandusky Street      

Delaware, Ohio 43015    : 

        

 Defendants.      

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This is a civil action for money damages brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 

and 1988, and the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States.  

2. This court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims presented in this 
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Complaint based upon the laws of the United States pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1341 and 1343. 

3. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims presented in this 

Complaint based upon the laws of the State of Ohio pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because these 

claims are so related to the claims in this action that are within the original jurisdiction of this 

Court, as stated above, that they form part of the same case or controversy. 

4. The amount in controversy exceeds Seventy-Five Thousand ($75,000.00) Dollars, 

excluding interest, costs and attorney fees. 

5. The unlawful actions alleged in this Complaint took place within the jurisdiction of 

the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio (Eastern Division). Venue is 

proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b).  

PARTIES 

6. The Plaintiff, Keith Ameyaw, is, and at all times relevant to this action was, a 

permanent resident of the State of North Carolina. Plaintiff was an active member of the United 

States Military in the Army. 

7. Defendant Delaware County is a political subdivision in the State of Ohio. This 

Court has personal jurisdiction over Delaware County it is situated in Ohio and in this judicial 

district. 

8. Defendants Jeff Benton, Barb Lewis and Gary Merrell are the Delaware County 

Commissioners. These defendants are sued in their official capacities. This Court has personal jurisdiction 

over these defendants because they hold their offices in Delaware County, Ohio.  

9. Defendant, Jesse Rodriguez Lipps, at all times relevant to this action, was a deputy 

with the Delaware County Sheriff’s Office acting in the course and scope of his employment, under 

color of law. He is sued in his individual capacity. 

10. Defendant Russell Martin is the Delaware County Sheriff. Sheriff Martin is sued in 
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his official capacity. This Court has personal jurisdiction over defendant Martin because he holds 

his office in Delaware County, Ohio.  

11. Defendants Delaware County, Defendant Delaware County Commissioners Jeff 

Benton, Barb Lewis and Gary Merrell and Defendant Russell Martin shall be referred to as 

“County Defendants”. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

12. On October 27, 2019, at approximately 4:00 p.m., Defendant Jesse Rodriguez Lipps 

(“Lipps”) was working patrol in the area of US 23 and North Sandusky Street. 

13. At that date and time, Plaintiff, an African American male, was lawfully operating 

a white Porsche south on US 23. Plaintiff was travelling from Michigan to Georgia. 

14. At that date and time, Lipps asserted he did not observe a visible license plate.  As 

a result, Lipps activated his lights and sirens to conduct a traffic stop. 

15. Once Lipps made the traffic stop and just as he stepped out of his patrol vehicle, he 

observed the license plate on Plaintiff’s vehicle. 

16. Once Lipps observed the licensed plate, he had no legal and/or Constitutional right 

to detain Plaintiff, the traffic stop had ended. 

17. Instead of allowing Plaintiff to proceed on his way, Lipps requested Plaintiffs 

driver’s license, proof of insurance and inquired where he was heading. 

18. Lipps went so far in his report to note when he asked Plaintiff for his license, 

Plaintiff “picked up a black fur coat off the passenger seat and reached into a designed bag looking 

for his wallet”. 

19. Upon information and belief it is not illegal or a crime or suspicious an African 

American Male owns and/or drives a Porche, owns a fur coat and/or a designer bag. 

20. Instead of allowing Plaintiff to leave, Lipps continued to detain him without any 
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reasonable suspicion. 

21. Lipps, on a fishing expedition, with no lawful justification other than Plaintiff was 

African American, driving a nice vehicle and had nice items in his vehicle, called for a canine unit. 

22. Thereafter, Officer Laudeman responded with his canine whereby there was a 

positive indication of narcotics. 

23. Lipps requested Plaintiff out of the vehicle in which Plaintiff complied and Plaintiff 

denied any narcotics in the vehicle. 

24. Thereafter, Lipps, without legal justification, searched Plaintiff’s vehicle for a 

length time period and could not locate any drugs.   

25. Thereafter, Lipps without legal justification searched Plaintiff’s bag and did locate 

a loaded firearm and immediately handcuffed Plaintiff. 

26. Plaintiff was placed in the back of the cruiser whereby he was interrogated without 

ever being advised of his Miranda rights. 

27. Plaintiff advised he had a concealed carry permit from Georgia which was verified 

to be true. Said permit was in Plaintiff’s wallet. 

28. Once the firearm was discovered, Lipps was speaking with other officers advising 

if Plaintiff does not have a proper conceal license he will file weapon charges against him and he 

will go to jail. 

29. Lipps confirmed Plaintiff had a carry concealed license however, without any legal 

right to do so, he still charged him and took him to jail. 

30. At this time, Plaintiff was advised of his rights and arrested for Improper Handling 

of a Firearm, under section 2923.16(E)(1) of the Ohio Revised Code a misdemeanor of the first 

degree. 

31. As a result of the unlawful arrest, Plaintiff was in jail for one day. 
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32. On June 26, 2020, the Prosecuting Attorney dismissed the criminal charge against 

Plaintiff. 

33. Plaintiff has never been arrested, spent any time in jail prior to the conduct of Lipps. 

34. Once Lipps observed the license plate on Plaintiff’s vehicle, he had no lawful right 

to detain Plaintiff any further including requesting a canine unit. 

35. Plaintiff was scheduled to be promoted in the Army but said promotion was delayed 

as a result of the pending criminal charges. 

VIOLATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. 1983 OF 

PLAINTIFF’S FOURTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS  

(Defendant Lipps) 

 

36. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1 through 38 as if fully set forth herein. 

37. Once Lipps observed the license plate on Plaintiff’s vehicle, the purpose of the 

traffic stop was complete. 

38. Lipps did not have a reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal activity to justify 

further detention of Plaintiff. 

39. At all times relevant, Plaintiff, had a clearly established right to liberty protected in 

the substantive components of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution, including his right to personal safety and bodily integrity, as well as protection 

from unlawful seizure, pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

40. At all times relevant, as police officers acting under color of law, Lipps was 

required to obey the laws of the United States, including those laws identified under the Fourth 

and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. 

41. In violation of Plaintiff ‘s clearly established constitutionally-protected right to be 

free from punishment and deprivation of life and liberty without due process of law under the 
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Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Lipps unlawfully seized 

Plaintiff. 

42. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Lipps is liable to Plaintiff for all damages 

allowed under federal law.  

43. As a direct and proximate result of Lipps’s willful violation of Plaintiff’s 

constitutionally-protected rights, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer damage into the 

future. 

COUNT TWO: 42 U.S.C. § 1983 MONELL LIABILITY 

(County Defendants) 

44. Plaintiff incorporates the above allegations by reference as if fully realleged here. 

45. The acts and omissions of Lipps were taken pursuant to one or more interrelated 

de facto as well as explicit policies, practices, or customs of the County Defendants, which 

include, among others: 

a. failing to properly train, supervise, discipline, transfer, monitor, counsel 

and otherwise control, deputies/officers;  

b. a pattern of racial profiling; 

c. possessing knowledge of deficiencies in the policies, practices, customs 

and procedures concerning racial profiling, and turning a blind eye to these deficiencies.  

46. In particular, deputies and/or officers are not properly trained on traffic stops, 

ability or inability to detain citizens, and not to racially profile. 

47. Said interrelated policies, practices and customs, as set forth above, both 

individually and together, were maintained and implemented with deliberate indifference and 

unreasonably; and encouraged, as set forth above. 
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48. Further, the constitutional violations and damages Plaintiff that occurred as 

described herein were directly and proximately caused by: The unofficial and/or official, tacit 

and/or expressed policies, customs, and practices; and otherwise unconstitutional policies of 

authorized policy makers of the County. 

49. Said interrelated policies, practices and customs, as set forth above, both 

individually and together, were maintained and implemented with deliberate indifference and 

unreasonably; and, encouraged Lipps to commit the above-described acts and omissions against 

Plaintiff and therefore acted as direct and proximate causes of said constitutional violations. 

50. The foregoing policies, practices, and customs maintained by the County 

Defendants violated Plaintiff’s rights to equal protection and due process under the Fourth and 

Fourteenth Amendments. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, respectfully requests this Honorable Court enter a judgment in 

their favor against Defendants and award an amount in excess of Seventy-Five Thousand 

($75,000.00) Dollars, exclusive of costs, interest and attorney fees, as well as an award of punitive 

damages.  

      

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

      /s/ David A. Goldstein 

      DAVID A. GOLDSTEIN (0064461) 

      DAVID A. GOLDSTEIN CO., L.P.A. 

      511 S. High Street, Suite 200 

      Columbus, Ohio  43215 

      (614) 222-1889 

      (614) 222-1899(Fax)  

      dgoldstein@dgoldsteinlaw.com 
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      /s/ Olivia R. Rancour 

      Olivia R. Rancour (0064461) 

      MAGUIRE SCHNEIDER HASSAY LPP 

      1650 Lake Shore Drive, Suite 150 

      Columbus, Ohio  43204 

      (614) 224-1222 

      (614) 224-1236 (Fax)  

      orancour@msh-lawfirm.com 

 

 

      /s/ Paul L. Scarsella 

      Paul L. Scarsella (0068661) 

      MAGUIRE SCHNEIDER HASSAY LPP 

      1650 Lake Shore Drive, Suite 150 

      Columbus, Ohio  43204 

      (614) 224-1222 

      (614) 224-1236 (Fax)  

      pscarsella@msh-lawfirm.com 

 

      Attorneys for Plaintiff 

  

 

JURY DEMAND 

 

 A trial by jury composed of the maximum number of jurors permitted under the law is 

hereby demanded. 

       

 

      /s/ David A. Goldstein 

      DAVID A. GOLDSTEIN  (0064461) 
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